
Water and fire
Ethnographic itinerary in Frasco

This itinerary is linked together by two elements: water  
and fire. Water ran the mills and turbines and is a  
symbol of the ancient driving force necessary for a 
number of human activities. Fire is the vital source of 
heat and energy necessary, among other things, to cook 
food and manufacture lime. And of course one could  
also metaphorically connect this element to the  
religious fervour that has been a hallmark of rural life  
over the centuries. The circular trail has 13 way stations; 
over and above these way stations, there are three 
noteworthy points of interest that complete the  
itinerary. These are the lüera (wolf trap) of Alnèd and 
the two kilns at the beginning of the Val d’Efra and at 
the white marble quarry of Benàsc. These points are 
indicated by the letter ‘a’ and by an arrow showing  
where the trails lead away from the original itinerary. 
Frasco, at about 880 meters above sea level, is the next-
to-last village of the Verzasca region. It is located along 
the bottom of the valley and it is made up of a number 
of family dwellings: Torbora, Cantòm, Pé and Scima er 
Mota (translated, respectively, as “at the foot” and “at 
the top of the slope”). Once, each hamlet was relatively 
independent, subject to the influence of a number of 
families. For example, the various settlements had their 
own bread oven and their own fountain. At the center 
of the town is the access point to the Val d’Efra, with its 
tumultuous stream flowing into a spectacular waterfall. 
The municipality now has about 100 inhabitants. About 
15% of the population works, mainly in the primary 
sector, even today. Some small holdings mainly raise 
farm animals (goats and cows) and produce excellent 
cheeses. In the past, Frasco was a fairly important crafts 
center, thanks to the use of natural resources. A number 
of mills, a saw-mill and a few rye and corn mills were 
water-powered, and the oil-mill provided walnut oil. 
Linen and hemp were grown and marble was quarried 
for the production of lime in the kilns which were 
mainly found in the Val d’Efra. At the beginning of the 
20th century the spirit of initiative of the Ferrini family 
led to an upsurge in tourism, above all thanks to the 
construction of the Efra hotel, whose reputation spread 
well beyond the region.

Ethnographic points of interest

1. Church of St. Bernard
Built between 1868 and 1869 on the basis of a design  
by Giovan Battista Zanolini of Linescio, the present-day 
church has replaced the ancient building whose  
origins date back to the end of the 13th century, and 
which was in all likelihood the second church ever  
built in Verzasca, after the Church of St. Bartholomew  
at Vogorno. The church is dedicated to St. Bernard  
the Abbot and to Our Lady of Mount Carmel,  
the patron saints of the Frasco parish. Two frescoes  
‘torn’ from old paintings adorn the church.  
To the right of the main entrance, the more valuable 
fresco depicts a ‘Nursing Madonna’ dating back to the 
15th century. The second fresco, to the left of the altar, 
depicts St. Dominic. The baroque gates dating  
back to the end of the 17th century closing off the side 
altars are certainly worthy of notice. The side chapel  
on the south side depicts ‘Our Lady of Good  
Counsel’ with St. Francis and St. Anthony.  
The statue of St. Bernard dates back to the first half of 
the 17th century.

2. Stations of the Cross
In front of the church is an admirable church-yard, 
encircled by a few chapels of the Stations of the Cross, 
the only example of this in Verzasca. Some date back to 
1749 and were illustrated by a number of artists.  
Seven chapels out of ten have survived and have come 
down to us today, in part thanks to repeated and expert 
restoration. The other stations are represented on the 
outer façades of the church.

3. The hanging bridge over the Verzasca River
This bridge was built in 1948. It leads to the Frasco area 
on the right hand side of the valley, and to the  
Sentierone (Main Trail) that leads to the villages of 
Sonogno and Gerra. This area is of great interest to 
naturalists and is defined and protected as a ‘Water bed  
of national importance’. The hanging bridge was 
commissioned by the Patritiate of Frasco, designed by  
G. Ferrini, an architect, and W. Krüsi, an engineer.  
The total length of the bridge is 90 meters and the piers 
are 10 meters high.

6. Torbora: the bread oven
While crossing the small bridge over the Efra river, if you 
look uphill through the trees you can get a glimpse of the 
mill, the power station and the old Efra hotel. Soon, you 
are at the hamlet of the Torbora. The first building on the 
left hand side of the trail is the bread oven, which is still 
used today by the local families. Along the back wall of 
the building, there was once a pig-sty which made good 
use of the warmth emitted by the oven. This is further 
proof of the fact that pigs were very useful animals in 
rural society.

7. Torbora: the hamlet
The heart of this hamlet is the small square with a 
fountain, completely surrounded by old homes which 
have kept their original charm intact. A few dates on the  
lintels lead us to believe that the houses date back to the  
beginning of the 18th century. One lintel bears the 
engraved date of 1556. Some of the façades of the houses  
along the narrow streets have frescoes and niches 
depicting the Virgin Mary. There is a fountain built 
against the wall of one of the houses surrounding the 
square; in times gone by, the fountain provided water for  
the entire hamlet, as the houses were without running 
water. There is an inscription on the fountain—
Benefatori calliforgnesi—and the date—1901. Along the 
itinerary, you will come across other fountains exactly 
like this one, spread out over the area, built thanks to the 
bequests of Frasco emigrants who made their fortune in 
California. There were once a number of wells ringing 
the hamlet, used to soak hemp. There was also a small 
quarry for the extraction of slabs of rock.

8. Efra Waterfall and Pozz Negro
Once you are past the hamlet of Torbora, climb up to the  
bridge crossing the cantonal road and cross the Efra river  
once more. Here you will find one of the most 
fascinating and wild areas of the itinerary: the Efra 
waterfall and the Pozz Negro underneath it. Even today  
one can discern ‘la Mòrfiga’ in red paint—the evil 
presence in the well used to scare little children away 
from the dangers therein. In the past, the waterfall was  
used to power a watermill and an electrical power 
station. As if to protect man and his constructions from 
the forces of nature, a chapel with frescoes by Vanoni 
(1810-86) was built; depicted in the chapel are the Virgin 

very simple yet highly efficient way they worked.  
It is interesting to note that the Val d’Efra also has a 
number of seams of potstone and that at the beginning 
of the last century, a few timid attempts were made to 
exploit small veins of gold-bearing and silver-bearing 
pyrite.

11. Scima er Mota hamlet
A few minutes further along is the Scima er Mota  
hamlet, where there is another of the fountains built 
thanks to the Californian benefactors. A few steps 
further is one more sign of the fact that the local 
populace was deeply religious—a large chapel dated 
1889 depicting an Our Lady Help of Christians. On the 
right-hand side you can see St. Venant depicted with 
the martyr’s palm and St. Bernard, recognizable by the 
dragon chained at his feet. Most of the buildings making 
up the hamlet of Scima er Mota have been restored, 
though some buildings do maintain their original 
characteristics. There is a unique building on the right-
hand side of the street which is unlike any other in 
Verzasca. It is made of wood with a stone socle and the 
façade is made mainly of wood. On the outskirts of the 
hamlet there is another traditional building—a double 
dwelling with a gallery, a type of house which used to  
be quite common in Verzasca.

 11a. White marble quarry
A very steep trail heading toward the Cò der Prèda 
mountains leads to the Benàsc quarry, right after the 
Scima er Mòta hamlet. It is well worth the effort of 
making the climb, as you will see ruins of what were 
probably two old kilns and, above all, signs that the 
inhabitants of yore of this valley recognized its value and 
used it to the best of their ability.

12. Signs of the ’51 avalanche
Continue the trail down toward the church along the  
slope that was overwhelmed by an avalanche on the 11th  
of February, 1951 which killed 5 people and destroyed a  
number of homes. The church and the bell tower 
survived the catastrophe. The side of the bell tower’s 
façade that faces Sonogna bears a yellow mark showing 
the level of snow accumulated during the avalanche. 
There is also a memorial stone in the cemetery 
commemorating the tragic event.

 3a. Lüera (wolf trap)
Leave the main itinerary at way station 3 and walk along 
the ‘Sentierone’ (Main Trail) towards Sonogno. On the 
left hand side flows the Fimina, fed from the copious 
springs above the settlement. Once you have arrived at  
Alnéd, turn left and climb for ten minutes along an easy 
trail, up to the centuries-old wolf trap. This lüera is quite  
interesting because it is a blend of the construction 
elements of the other two known traps (at the Ganne and 
at Alnasca at Brione Verzasca). An 18th century traveller, 
Schinz, noted the great number of wolves in our regions, 
so many that there were several ‘exorcisms conducted 
with great solemnity, but which were completely useless’, 
until ‘ in 1772 four wolves were killed in Verzasca alone, 
and others were caught in traps’. 

4. Town Hall
Walking down the narrow street you will encounter the  
town hall on your left, the home of the former municipal 
government (since 2020, Frasco has been part of the 
municipality of Verzasca). It was also the site of the town’s 
school up until the mid 60s. There is an artistic homage to 
Max König, a Swiss industrialist and philanthropist who 
fell in love with Frasco and contributed very generously 
to a number of public works.

5. Pé der Mota
The hamlet winds its way along the old valley road and is 
made up of ancient dwellings, many of which have been 
restructured as second homes. Some of the buildings 
have indeed maintained intact a number of interesting 
and original architectural qualities. Just past the town 
hall, some of the houses have very interesting façades:  
a painting depicting a tender Madonna with Child (inside 
a bright sunburst), another depicts an elegant and unusual 
Madonna Enthroned which dates back to the early  
16th century, described thusly by the writer Piero Bianconi:  
‘The Madonna’s face, her beautiful hands, her extremely 
lively eyes show not just a regal Madonna but also a 
woman’s grace.’ Note a small house with a built-in bread  
oven and a massive wooden beam running along the 
masonry of the main façade. Another house worthy 
of note has dry walls bound by three large beams, 
something unique to Ticino. During restoration work, 
this detail was almost obliterated; a small ground-floor 
post bears the date of construction of the house—1433.

with Child, St. Peter (identified by his keys) and  
St. Stephen (while being stoned to death).

9. The mill and the power station
In the 19th century, Frasco was already a small crafts 
center of the upper Valley, thanks to its many water-
powered installations. There were a number of mills for  
grinding cereal which were destroyed in 1868 by a 
massive flood. After the flood, two installations were 
created along the Efra creek that exist to this day—the 
watermill built in 1880 and the power station built in  
1925. Between 1994 and 1996, the Museum of Val 
Verzasca bought and restored these two buildings and 
reactivated both the mills and the turbine, so that they 
can once again be admired in their original context. The 
buildings are open by appointment: tel. + 41 (0)91 746 17 77.

10. The Efra hotel
Follow the itinerary by climbing the steps to the left of 
the Efra hotel, which in the 1950s was a favourite haunt 
of English tourists. The hotel was famous for its ‘en bleu’ 
trout and its high tea at 5 p.m.—ah, the good old days! 
The Efra Brewery, together with the shop and the post 
office, both of which closed years ago, were once the 
heart of the village.

 10a. Lime kilns
As in other areas of Ticino, Frasco has a number of very  
impressive signs of how entrepreneurial the people of the  
Verzasca area were. Going off the main trail at point 10,  
after a walk of 15 minutes, you can see a white marble 
vein that was undoubtedly exploited until 1870 for the  
production of lime mortar used in building and 
plastering the churches of Frasco and Sonogno and the  
schools of Sonogno. Up to four lime-kilns were in 
activity at one point, but as a number of sources tell us, 
the lime-kilns had to close because the wood (mainly 
hazelwood and beechwood) grew scarce and was hard to  
transport. The quarry was on the very steep slope 
opposite. The extracted rocks were dropped down to the 
riverside and then transported to the kilns where they 
were cooked for a very long period of time (from three 
to five days) at a very high constant temperature (850°). 
Two very well-preserved kilns can still be seen. There are 
some explanatory panels there with a description of the 

13. The ‘Benefatori californiesi’ Fountain
Before reaching the church and the point of arrival, there 
is another fountain to be seen that was donated by the 
Californian benefactors. Unlike the other fountains, this 
one still has its original metal drinking cup attached to a  
chain, to avoid it being stolen. There is a 1780 painting 
on the house next to the fountain depicting Our Lady of 
Mount Carmel (note the wimples). St. Joseph is on the 
right-hand side and St. Anthony of Padua is on the left-
hand side.
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L’eau et le feu
Itinéraire ethnographique en Val Verzasca

L’itinéraire proposé se déroule en suivant un double fil  
conducteur: l’eau et le feu. L’eau, qui faisait fonctionner 
meules et turbines, symbolise l’ancienne force motrice 
indispensable pour les diverses activités de l’homme; le feu,  
source vitale de chaleur et d’énergie nécessaire, entre autres,  
pour cuire les aliments et pour la fabrication de la chaux. 
Enfin, on peut de manière métaphorique rapprocher cet  
élément à la ferveur religieuse qui a caractérisé la vie rurale  
des siècles passés. En plus des 13 points du parcours 
circulaire, sont suggérés 3 points d’intérêt et 
d’approfondissement en complément à cet itinéraire. Il s’agit 
de “la lüera” (piège à loups) d’Alnèd, des 2 fours à l’entrée du  
Val d’Efra et de la carrière de marbre blanc de Benàsc.  
Ces points sont marqués avec la lettre “a” et une flèche qui 
indique une déviation du parcours originel. Frasco, situé à  
environ 880 mètres d’altitude, est l’avant-dernier village du 
Val Verzasca. Situé sur le fond de la vallée, il se compose de  
divers hameaux: Torbora, Cantòm, Pé et Scima er Mota 
(que l’on peut traduire respectivement par: “au pied” et “au  
sommet de la pente”). Autrefois, chaque hameau 
d’habitations était relativement autonome et caractérisé par  
l’influence de diverses familles. Les divers habitats 
disposaient, par exemple, de leur propre four à pain et de leur  
propre fontaine. Au centre du village nous trouvons l’entrée 
du Val d’Efra, avec son torrent tumultueux qui forme une 
cascade spectaculaire. La commune compte maintenant une  
centaine d’habitants. De nos jours encore environ 15% de la  
population active est occupée dans le secteur primaire. 
Quelques petites entreprises se consacrent principalement à  
l’élevage (chèvres et vaches) et à la production d’excellents 
fromages. Dans le passé, Frasco fut un centre artisanal d’une  
certaine importance grâce à l’exploitation des ressources 
naturelles. La force hydrique activait de nombreux moulins,  
une scierie et quelques meules à seigle et maïs, et avec les  
pressoirs on obtenait de l’huile de noix. En outre, on cultivait  
du lin et du chanvre et on se consacrait à l’extraction du 
marbre pour la production de la chaux dans les fours situés 
principalement dans le Val d’Efra. Au début des années 1900,  
l’esprit d’initiative de la famille Ferrini mena à un 
développement significatif du tourisme, surtout grâce à la 
construction de l’hôtel Efra, dont la réputation s’étendit bien  
au-delà des frontières régionales.

Points d’intérêt ethnographique

1. Eglise de San Bernardo
Edifiée dans les années 1868-69 sur un projet de  
Giovan Battista Zanolini de Linescio, l’église actuelle a 
remplacé l’ancien édifice dont les origines remontaient  
à la fin de 1200, qui était vraisemblablement la  
deuxième église édifiée en Verzasca après celle de
San Bartolomeo à Vogorno. L’église est dédiée à
San Bernardo Abate et à la Madone du Carmel,  
patrons de la paroisse de Frasco. Deux déposes 
d’anciennes fresques l’enrichissent. A droite de  
l’entrée principale, la plus précieuse représente une 
“Madone du Lait” remontant au XVe siècle.  
La deuxième fresque, à gauche de l’autel, représente  
San Domenico. A noter les remarquables grilles baroques 
(fin XVIIe) qui délimitent les autels latéraux.  
Dans la chapelle latérale au sud on remarque le tableau  
de 1779 qui représente la “Madone du Bon Conseil”  
avec les Saints Francesco et Antonio. La statue de  
San Bernardo est de la première moitié du XVIIe siècle.

2. Chemin de Croix
Devant l’église nous trouvons un admirable parvis 
entouré de quelques chapelles du Chemin de Croix 
disposées en couronne, unique exemple en Verzasca.  
En partie remontant à 1749, elles furent illustrées par 
divers artistes. Sept chapelles sur dix sont parvenues 
jusqu’à nos jours, grâce aux restaurations répétées et 
habiles, alors que les stations restantes sont  
représentées sur les façades externes de l’église.

3. Pont suspendu sur la rivière Verzasca
Par cette passerelle, construite en 1948, on peut  
atteindre le territoire de Frasco situé sur le versant  
droit de la vallée ainsi que le “Sentierone” (Grand 
Sentier) qui permet de rejoindre les villages de  
Sonogno et de Gerra. Cette zone revêt aussi une valeur 
particulière du point de vue naturaliste et elle est  
définie et protégée en tant de “berge d’importance 
nationale”. Le pont suspendu a été commandé par la 
bourgeoisie de Frasco à l’architecte G. Ferrini et à 
l’ingénieur W. Krüsi. La longueur totale est de  
90 mètres, alors que la hauteur des pylônes atteint
10 mètres.

La maison où est incorporé le four à pain constitue une 
particularité et se caractérise par une poutre  
imposante, visible le long de la maçonnerie de la  
façade principale. On signale aussi une petite maison 
dont la maçonnerie en pierres sèches était liée par  
trois grosses poutres et qui représente un cas unique 
tessinois. La restructuration a partiellement effacé  
cette particularité, même si la date de construction  
(1433) reste visible sur un petit pilier au rez-de-chaussée. 

6. Torbora: four à pain
En traversant le petit pont sur le fleuve Efra on  
entrevoit, en amont parmi les arbres, le moulin, la 
centrale électrique et le vieil hôtel Efra. On rejoint 
ensuite le hameau de la Torbora. Le premier bâtiment  
sur la gauche du sentier est le four à pain, utilisé  
encore aujourd’hui par les familles du lieu. Adossée à 
la paroi postérieure de la construction, on trouve une 
porcherie qui bénéficiait de la tiédeur émanant du  
four. C’est un témoignage supplémentaire que le  
cochon était un animal très précieux dans la  
civilisation rurale.

7. Torbora: le village
Au coeur de ce village il y a la petite place avec une 
fontaine; la place est entourée par de vieilles maisons 
d’habitation qui conservent leur caractère originel  
intact. Certaines dates sur les architraves font  
remonter ces édifices au début de 1700. Sur une 
architrave est même gravée la date de 1556. Sur les 
façades de ces maisons, le long d’étroites ruelles,
nous trouvons diverses fresques et niches  
représentant la Vierge Marie. Sur la place, adossée à  
l’une des maisons qui l’entourent, est sise la fontaine  
qui, dans le passé, constituait la source 
d’approvisionnement pour tout le village, vu que les  
maisons étaient dépourvues d’eau courante. 
Sur la fontaine on peut lire l’inscription “Benefatori 
calliforgnesi” (Bienfaiteurs californiens) et la date 1901. 
Le long de l’itinéraire on trouvera d’autres  
fontaines identiques à celle-ci, réparties sur tout le 
territoire et construites grâce aux legs d’émigrants de  
Frasco qui firent fortune en Californie. Autour du 
village, il y avait autrefois de nombreux puits pour la 
macération du chanvre ainsi qu’une petite carrière  

que l’épicerie et la poste, désormais fermées depuis 
bien des années, constituaient autrefois le centre du 
village.

 10a. Four à chaux
Comme dans d’autres régions tessinoises, nous 
retrouvons à Frasco de précieux et imposants 
témoignages de l’esprit d’entreprise du Val Verzasca. 
En quittant le parcours principal à proximité  
du point 10, après 15 minutes de marche,  
nous découvrons une veine de marbre blanc 
certainement exploitée jusqu’en 1870 pour la 
production du mortier utilisé ensuite dans la 
construction et dans le crépissage des églises de  
Frasco et Sonogno, ainsi que des écoles à Sonogno. On 
comptait jusqu’à quatre fours à chaux en  
activité, mais plusieurs sources rappellent qu’une  
telle activité s’épuisa à cause de la rareté du bois 
(surtout noisetier et hêtre) et des difficultés de 
transport. La carrière était sise sur le versant  
opposé très raide: on laissait tomber les roches 
extraites jusqu’à la limite du torrent et on les 
transportait aux fours pour une longue phase de 
cuisson (de trois à cinq jours) toujours en gardant  
une température élevée constante (850°). De nos  
jours deux fours très bien conservés sont encore 
visibles. Des panneaux explicatifs sur place  
illustrent les principes de leur fonctionnement  
simple mais efficace. Dans le Val d’Efra on signale 
aussi la présence de quelques filons de pierre  
ollaire et on sait que quelques timides tentatives  
ont été réalisées, au début du siècle dernier, pour 
exploiter de petites découvertes de pyrite aurifère  
et argentifère.

11. Village Scima er Mota
Quelques minutes plus tard, on arrive au hameau de 
Scima er Mota où nous retrouvons l’une des  
fontaines construites grâce aux bienfaiteurs 
californiens. A quelques pas, un autre témoignage de 
la profonde religiosité populaire: une grande  
chapelle datée 1889 qui représente une Marie 
Auxiliatrice. Sur la droite sont illustrés  
San Venanzio, représenté avec la palme du martyr et 
San Bernardo, reconnaissable au dragon enchaîné à ses 
pieds. Le hameau de Scima er Mota est constitué par 

 3a. Lüera (piège à loups)
Pour atteindre le point 3a, on quitte le circuit  
principal et on poursuit sur le “Sentierone” en  
direction de Sonogno. D’importance naturaliste, à  
notre gauche coule le ruisseau Fimina, alimenté par  
de généreuses sources au-dessus du hameau Alnèd.  
Une fois dépassé le hameau on tourne à gauche et,  
en montant 10 minutes sur un agréable sentier, on 
arrive au séculaire piège à loups. Ce piège (lüera) est 
extrêmement intéressant puisqu’il unit les éléments  
de construction que l’on peut retrouver dans les  
deux autres pièges connus (à Ganne et près de  
Alnasca à Brione Verzasca). Un voyageur du XVIIIe 
siècle, Schinz, rappelle la présence de nombreux  
loups dans nos régions, au point que furent célébrés 
“de solennels exorcismes, mais ils n’eurent aucun effet”, 
jusqu’à ce que “en 1772, dans le seul Val Verzasca, furent 
abattus quatre loups et d’autres pris dans les pièges”.

4. Maison communale
En descendant le long de la route, on trouve, sur 
la gauche, la maison communale, siège de l’ancien 
Municipalité (depuis 2020, Frasco fait partie de 
la municipalité de Verzasca). Jusqu’au milieu des 
années ’60 elle accueillait l’école du village. Une 
œuvre artistique rappelle le bienfaiteur Max König, un 
industriel confédéré qui, tombé amoureux  
de Frasco, légua une contribution substantielle en  
faveur de diverses oeuvres publiques.

5. Pé der Mota
Le hameau, le long de la vieille route de la vallée, est  
constitué d’anciens édifices d’habitation dont un  
grand nombre a été rénové en habitations  
secondaires. Certaines constructions gardent encore  
des qualités architecturales originelles intéressantes.  
Près de la maison communale on peut admirer, sur
les façades de quelques maisons, d’autres précieux 
éléments de ce village: une peinture représentant une 
délicate Madone avec l’Enfant (au milieu d’un halo
de rayons lumineux), ainsi qu’une élégante et insolite 
Madone en Trône, remontant au début du XVIe siècle, 
que l’écrivain Piero Bianconi décrit ainsi:
“Sur le visage de la Madone, sur ses belles mains,
dans ses yeux très vifs, à côté de la majesté de la  
Madone apparaît la grâce de la femme”. 

pour l’extraction des « piode » (pierres lisses utilisées 
pour les toits).

8. Cascade Efra et Pozz Negro
Une fois quitté le village de Torbora, on remonte  
pour rejoindre le pont sur la route cantonale et  
traverser à nouveau le torrent Efra. On se trouve  
ainsi face à l’un des endroits les plus fascinants et 
sauvages de notre itinéraire: la cascade de l’Efra et le  
Pozz Negro en-dessous. Encore aujourd’hui on peut  
entrevoir, peinte en rouge, “la Mòrfiga”: cette  
présence maligne dans le puits était évoquée dans les  
contes afin que les enfants, effrayés, se tiennent loin  
du danger. La construction du moulin et de la  
centrale électrique a permis dans le passé d’exploiter 
la force de cette cascade. Comme dans une volonté 
de protéger l’homme et ses constructions contre les 
forces de la nature, on a construit une chapelle  
décorée avec des fresques de Vanoni (1810-86) ayant 
comme sujet principal la Vierge avec l’Enfant, Saint 
Pierre (reconnaissable avec les clés) et Saint Etienne 
(dans l’acte de la lapidation).

9. Le moulin et la centrale électrique
Au XIXe siècle déjà, Frasco représentait un petit 
centre artisanal pour le haut de la Vallée grâce aux 
nombreuses installations qui exploitaient la force 
hydrique. Parmi celles-ci, quelques moulins pour le 
broyage des céréales qui furent détruits en 1868 lors 
d’une crue exceptionnelle. Ensuite, sur le torrent  
Efra, furent construits deux établissements qui ont 
survécu jusqu’à nos jours: le moulin, construit en 
1880, et la centrale électrique de 1925. Le Musée du 
Val Verzasca a acquis et restauré dans les années  
1994-1996 ces deux édifices et en a réactivé les meules 
et la turbine, que l’on peut maintenant à nouveau 
admirer dans leur contexte originel. 
Ouverture sur rendez-vous: tél. +41 (0)91 746 17 77.

10. Hôtel Efra
Notre itinéraire continue en montant l’escalier à 
gauche de l’hôtel Efra qui dans les années ’50 était 
fréquenté principalement par des touristes anglais.  
Il était renommé pour ses truites “au bleu” ainsi que 
pour le rendez-vous quotidien de cinq heures “tea-time”
... c’était un autre temps! La Brasserie Efra, ainsi 

des édifices en grande partie restructurés, mais aussi  
par quelques constructions qui conservent leurs 
caractéristiques originelles. Un cas unique en  
Verzasca est constitué par l’édifice en bois avec
socle en pierre sur le côté droit de la route, dans  
lequel le bois est utilisé comme matériau principal 
dans la construction d’une façade. Aux limites du 
village on peut admirer une autre construction 
traditionnelle: une maison double avec coursive, 
modèle d’habitation fréquemment utilisé en  
Verzasca.

 11a. Carrière de marbre blanc
On atteint la carrière de Benàsc en s’engageant sur le 
sentier raide en direction des Monti di Cò der  
Prèda, immédiatement après le village de Scima er 
Mòta. L’effort est bien récompensé avec la  
découverte de deux probables vieux fours et surtout 
par les signes de l’exploitation de cette veine de  
marbre que les anciens habitants de la vallée 
reconnurent et utilisèrent dans les limites de leurs 
possibilités.

12. Signes de l’avalanche de 1951
On continue en descendant vers l’église, le long de  
la pente qui, le 11 février 1951, fut dévastée par 
l’avalanche qui tua 5 personnes et détruisit de 
nombreuses maisons. L’église et le clocher ont  
résisté à la catastrophe et sur la façade du clocher 
tourné vers Sonogno on aperçoit la marque jaune  
qui atteste le niveau atteint par la neige accumulée  
par l’avalanche. Une plaque commémorative au 
cimetière rappelle aussi le tragique événement.

13. Fontaine “Bienfaiteurs californiens”
Avant d’atteindre l’église et notre point d’arrivée 
nous pouvons observer une autre fontaine des 
bienfaiteurs californiens. A la différence des 
précédentes, cette fontaine possède encore le verre  
en métal originel, accroché à une chaîne pour éviter 
qu’il ne soit volé. Sur la maison à côté de la
fontaine, une peinture de 1780 illustre une Madone du 
Carmel (remarquez les scapulaires) avec à sa  
droite Saint Joseph et à sa gauche Saint Antoine de 
Padoue.
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Longueur / Length of trail 2 km
Temps de parcours / Time required 1h 30min.

Informations / Information
Organizzazione turistica Lago Maggiore e Valli
Ufficio turistico Tenero e Valle Verzasca
Via Brere 3a, CH-6598 Tenero
Tel. +41 (0)91 759 77 44, www.ascona-locarno.com

Museo di Val Verzasca
6637 Sonogno, tel. +41 (0)91 746 17 77
www.museovalverzasca.ch
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